
Agenda - Finance Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 3 - Senedd
Meeting date: Wednesday, 5 October 
2016
Meeting time: 08.45

For further information contact:
Bethan Davies
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6372 
SeneddFinance@assembly.wales

1 08.45-09.00 Informal pre-meeting
 

2 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 
interest
(9.00)  

3 Paper(s) to note
(9.00)  

Letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government to the Chair - 
23 September 2016 - Welsh Revenue Authority

(Page 1) 

4 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimate of income and 
expenses 2017-18: Evidence session
(09.00-10.00) (Pages 2 - 25) 

Nick Bennett, Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
David Meaden, Financial Accountant
Susan Hudson, Policy and Communications Manager

Paper 1 – Public Services Ombudsman for Wales Estimate for the Financial Year 
2017-18

5 Assembly Commission draft budget 2017-18: Evidence session
(10.00-11.00) (Pages 26 - 71) 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Claire Clancy, Chief Executive and Clerk of the Assembly
Suzy Davies AM, Commissioner for Budget and Governance 
Nia Morgan, Director of Finance 

Paper 2 - Assembly Commission draft budget 2017-18

6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the remainder of the meeting
(11.00)  

11.00-11.15 Break 

7 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimate of income and 
expenses 2017-18: Consideration of evidence
(11.15-11.30)  

8 Assembly Commission draft budget 2017-18: Consideration of 
evidence
(11.30-11.45)  

9 Overview of the budget process
(11.45-12.30)  



Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-07-16 PTN1
Mark Drakeford AMI AC 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government 

Eich cyflYour ref 
Ein cyf/Our ref DC/MD/05251/16 

Dear Simon 

Llywodraeth Cymru 
Welsh Government 

23 September 2016 

I appreciate that other commitments, understandably, prevented you from joining me at my recent 
breakfast event. I thought it might be helpful if I sent you an overview of what was discussed and 
also to invite you to offer any views. 

I held the event to elicit views from a broad group of stakeholders on our next steps in tax 
devolution; in particular progress on establishing the Welsh Revenue Authority 0NRA) and the early 
priority of appointing a chair and subsequent board. As you know, my intention is to advertise for a 
chair later this autumn and to announce a successful candidate early in 2017 and the meeting was 
helpful in view of that timetable. 

During the breakfast event we talked about the skills and attributes required of the first chair (and 
the wider Board) and a number of interesting points were raised during the discussion; not least the 
importance of attracting credible candidates suitable to the context of a new organisation in Wales. 
We also discussed the various options available to ensure a wide and diverse field of candidates. 

I would be interested to hear any views you have on the attributes and skills you think most 
important for the WRA Board and also on how to ensure we get the most suitable and diverse 
group of candidates possible. 

As to future progress being made towards establishing the WRA and reporting progress on this, I 
wanted to draw your attention to a piece of work being taken forward by the Auditor General for 
Wales. In September 2015, the Auditor General for Wales wrote to your predecessor setting out his 
intention to carry out a review into the progress with preparing for devolving taxes to Wales by April 
2018. The WAO have indicated that they will publish their first report by the end of November. 

Yours sincerely 

Mark Drakeford AM/AC 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a lIywodraeth Leol 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF991NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth .Mark. Drakeford@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Mark. Drakeford@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 3.1



Public  
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 
Estimate for the Financial Year 2017/18 

Submission to the Finance Committee meeting 
of the National Assembly for Wales 

5 October 2016 

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-07-16 P1 

Pack Page 2

Agenda Item 4



 
 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 1 of 14 
 

 
 
 
 
Contents           Page  
 
 
1.  Introduction 2 
 
2.   The Role of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 3 
 
3.   Corporate Governance 4 
 
4.   Financial Performance 4 
 
5.   Efficiency and Effectiveness 5 
 
6.   Pensions Deficit 8 
 
7.   Pressures 8 
 
8.   Strategic Planning 9 
 
 
Appendices   
 
Appendix A - Estimates 2017/18 11 
 
Appendix B – Growth in Complaints 12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 3



    

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 2 of 14 
 

 
1. Introduction  
 
1.1 I submit this budget estimate as required by paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 of the 

Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005, as amended by the Government of 
Wales Act 2006.  It sets out the resources required from the Welsh Consolidated 
Fund to carry out my statutory functions.  

 
1.2 This is the first submission of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales’s (PSOW) 

estimates to the Fifth Assembly and it sets out the resources sought for the financial 
year 2017/18.  The Finance Committee is responsible for considering this estimates 
submission.  The Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee is 
responsible for considering the work of the office.  The PSOW also appears before 
the Public Accounts Committee as and when required by that Committee.  The 
information provided in this paper relates particularly to those matters within the 
remit of the Finance Committee. 

 
1.3 The Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005 establishes the office of the 

Ombudsman as a ‘corporation sole’. The Ombudsman is accountable to the 
National Assembly for Wales, both through the mechanism of the Annual Report, 
and as Accounting Officer for the public funds with which the National Assembly 
entrusts the Ombudsman to undertake his functions. 

 
1.4 The resources sought within this paper are aligned with the aims and objectives of 

my strategic plan, recognising also the level of enquiries and complaints that my 
office is now dealing with (together with a projected increase over the next year, 
based on trends since 2010/11).  I discuss these further later in this submission. 

 
1.5 The net resource expenditure sought for 2017/18 is £4,248k, with a net cash 

requirement of £4,460k.  This represents the funding required to manage the 
workload of the office at the projected 2017/18 levels and maintains my budget at no 
more than 0.03% of the Welsh Block.   

 
  

Pack Page 4



  

 
 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 3 of 14 
 

2.  The Role of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales  
 
2.1 As Ombudsman, I have two specific roles. The first is to consider complaints about 

public service providers in Wales; the second role is to consider complaints that 
members of local authorities have broken the Code of Conduct. I am independent of 
all government bodies and the service that I provide is free of charge. 

 
2.2 Complaints about public service providers 
 
2.2.1 Under the PSOW Act 2005, I consider complaints about bodies which, generally, are 

those that provide public services where responsibility for their provision has been 
devolved to Wales. The types of bodies I can look into include: 
  
• local government (both county and community councils); 
• the National Health Service (including GPs and dentists); 
• registered social landlords (housing associations); 
• and the Welsh Government, together with its sponsored bodies. 
 
I am also able to consider complaints about privately arranged or funded social care 
and palliative care services. 
 

2.2.2 When considering complaints, I look to see whether people have been treated 
unfairly or inconsiderately, or have received a bad service through some fault on the 
part of the service provider. Attention will also be given to whether the service 
provider has acted in accordance with the law and its own policies. If a complaint is 
upheld I will recommend appropriate redress. The main approach taken when 
recommending redress is, where possible, to put the complainant (or the person 
who has suffered the injustice) back to the position they would have been in if the 
problem had not occurred. Furthermore, if from the investigation I see evidence of a 
systemic weakness, then recommendations will be made with the aim of reducing 
the likelihood of others being similarly affected in future. 

   
2.2.3 My Complaints Advice Team also provides the Complaints Wales signposting 

service, which is an independent and impartial telephone and web based service.  It 
offers advice to members of the public on how to complain about a public service 
and signposts their complaint to the organisation that provides the service that they 
wish to complain about, or to the appropriate independent complaint handler or 
ombudsman. 

 

Pack Page 5



 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 4 of 14 
 

 
2.3 Code of Conduct complaints 
 
2.3.1 Under the provisions of Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 and also relevant 

Orders made by the National Assembly for Wales under that Act, I consider 
complaints that members of local authorities have breached their authority’s Code of 
Conduct. I can consider complaints about the behaviour of members of: 
 
• county and county borough councils 
• community councils 
• fire authorities 
• national park authorities and 
• police and crime panels. 
 
All these authorities have a Code of Conduct which sets out in detail how members 
must follow recognised principles of behaviour in public life. 

 
 
3.  Corporate Governance 
 
3.1 The constitutional position of a corporation sole means that responsibility and 

accountability for the activities carried out by my office must remain with me. 
 
3.2 Whilst bearing in mind the constitutional position of a corporation sole, I have 

established an Advisory Panel which provides both challenge and support to me as 
Ombudsman. There is also an Audit & Risk Assurance Committee, a sub-committee 
of the Panel, which provides particular support to me in relation to my responsibilities 
as Accounting Officer. The work of both these fora over the past year has been 
addressed in greater detail as part of the Governance Statement within my Annual 
Accounts for 2015/16, published in July 2016.   

 
 
4. Financial Performance 
 
4.1 The arrangements for financial management and internal control have been 

independently reviewed by Deloitte as the PSOW’s internal auditors.  The work of 
Deloitte has been planned on the basis of their overall needs assessment. Their 
reports have highlighted the satisfactory internal control framework within the 
organisation and made recommendations for improvement where necessary.  

 

Pack Page 6



  

 
 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 5 of 14 
 

4.2 The Deloitte Internal Audit Annual Report in respect of the year 2015/16 stated: 
“Based on the work we have undertaken during the year we are able to conclude 
that the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) has a basically sound 
system of internal control, which should provide substantial assurance regarding 
the achievement of PSOW’s objectives.” Their reports highlighted the satisfactory 
internal control framework within the organisation and made recommendations for 
improvement where necessary. 

 

4.3 The Auditor General gave the annual accounts for the year 2015/16 an unqualified 
audit opinion in keeping with all previous years.    

 
5. Efficiency and Effectiveness  

 
5.1 The PSOW has previously reported to the Finance Committee on the concerted 

effort made to provide a more efficient and effective service at the early stages of 
the complaints handling process, together with streamlining the investigation stage.  
These arrangements have continued to be crucial in the context of dealing with the 
ever increasing number of enquiries and complaints received by my office. 

 
5.2 That upward trend continues.  Since the beginning of the decade (2010/11) the 

workload has already increased by 112% (to 31 March 2016).  Furthermore, this is 
projected to increase to 164% by 31 March 2017. Unit costs have fallen by 65% 
over the same period, as illustrated below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 7



 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 6 of 14 
 

 
5.3   Over the six year period 2010/11 to 2015/16 the actual number of enquiries and 

complaints received more than doubled and workload is forecast to increase in 
2016/17 and 2017/18.  This is summarised in the table below, with further details in 
Appendix B. 

  

 
5.4 The funding sought within this estimate is similar to that in 2010/11.  In real terms 

(i.e. adjusted for inflation) it is 9% lower than in 2010/11. This is despite the increase 
in workload illustrated above. The detail of expenditure is illustrated in the chart 
below (the bars in the chart illustrate actual expenditure, whilst the line shows what 
the figures would be like if they were adjusted for inflation).  In other words what this 
demonstrates is that the true value (spending power) of the PSOW budget, as 
shown by the black line, has declined by £475k in the years 2010/11 to 2016/17.  
The 2017/18 submission would reduce this to £349k. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Actual 
10-11 

 
Actual 
11-12 

 
Actual 
12-13 

 
Actual 
13-14 

 
Actual 
14-15 

 
Actual 
15-16 

 
Forecast 

16-17 

 
Estimate 

17-18 

% 
change 
10-11 to 

17-18 

Enquiries 1,127 1,866 2,906 3,234 3,470 3,731 4,365 4,736 +320 

Public Body Complaints 1,425 1,605 1,790 1,932 2,065 1,992 2,191 2,301 +61 

Code of Conduct Complaints 277 412 291 226 231 276 362 418 +51 

Total 2,829 3,883 4,987 5,392 5,766 5,999 6,918 7,455 +164 

£0 

£500 

£1,000 

£1,500 

£2,000 

£2,500 

£3,000 

£3,500 

£4,000 

£4,500 

10-11 11-12 12-13 13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 

Resource Expenditure  

Capital 

Other 

Depreciation 

Communications 

Office 

IT 

Professional fees 

Premises 

Staff 

Total adj for inflation 

Pack Page 8



  

 
 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 7 of 14 
 

 
5.5 A number of years ago, the office gave the undertaking to limit its financial resource 

to 0.03% of the Welsh block.  It is worth noting that as well as the office budget  
running below inflation, the PSOW’s resources as a proportion of the Welsh block 
has reduced from 0.026% to 0.024% (all figures in £000s). This is shown below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 Against the background of efficiencies achieved against the historic increase in 

cases and the financial resources received by the office, I clearly have to give 
serious consideration as to the implications of these trends for the future.  Finance 
Committees of the past have been made aware of innovations introduced into the 
office, including the streamlining of the PSOW’s complaints handling processes, etc.  
Over the past year in particular, we have been working with selected bodies in 
jurisdiction with a view to improving their complaints handling, with a long term aim 
of reducing complaints that come to me.  In addition, we have been working to 
increase the number complaints resolved at an early stage.   However, many cases 
are not suitable for this ‘light touch’ approach to resolution and require full 
investigation.   

 
5.7 We have also worked hard to make efficiencies across the range of running costs.  

For example, we have achieved improved office rent terms, progressed our 
paperless office project, reduced legal reference material costs and generally 
secured savings across a range of smaller office support services. 

 

10-11 11-12 12-13 13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 
PSOW budget £4,166 £3,854 £3,853 £3,942 £4,023 £4,063 £4,090 
Welsh Block £15,836,489 £15,392,400 £15,489,386 £15,815,776 £16,140,891 £16,417,219 £16,740,161 

£15,000,000 

£15,200,000 

£15,400,000 

£15,600,000 

£15,800,000 

£16,000,000 

£16,200,000 

£16,400,000 

£16,600,000 

£16,800,000 

£17,000,000 

£3,800 

£3,850 

£3,900 

£3,950 

£4,000 

£4,050 

£4,100 

£4,150 

£4,200 

Pack Page 9



 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 8 of 14 
 

 
5.8    I have also continued to seek opportunities to collaborate, where appropriate, with 

Wales’s Commissioners.   In particular, my office led on a joint tender process for 
internal audit services, which included the offices of the Children’s Commissioner 
and the Older People’s Commissioner.  Furthermore, I have also during 2016 
agreed to provide the Future Generations Commissioner with a payroll service in 
respect of the staff of her office, on a cost neutral basis and saving the taxpayer 
money. 

 
5.9 The situation explained above has been managed through both the innovations 

introduced and by operating at staff levels below the office establishment, together 
with delaying recruitment.  I am of the view that my staff are already working at full 
capacity and that we cannot continue to operate with a reduced level of staff.    

 
5.10 Previous Finance Committees have asked the Ombudsman not to change criteria 

for taking complaints forward in the light of tensions between volumes of complaints 
and budget constraints, without discussing that with the Committee first.   It is 
against this background that this estimate has been prepared.  It is my view that the 
£4,248k net resource expenditure sought for 2017/18 (net cash requirement of 
£4,460k) is the level of resource required to enable my office to continue to provide 
the current level of service. 

 
 
6. Pensions Deficit 
 
6.1 Some PSOW staff are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme and a 

deficit has been identified since 2010/11. The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Pension Fund shows a deficit of £230k as at 31 March 2016.  A process is in place 
to fund this deficit and it is anticipated that by 2017/18 it will have been addressed.    

 
 
7. Pressures  

 
7.1 Staff pay is linked to Local Government National Joint Council pay negotiations. The 

staff budget reflects a 1% pay increase that has been agreed for each financial year 
from April 2016 to March 2018 plus the additional costs that arise from the end of 
contracting out for National Insurance as well as changes to the Civil Service 
Pension Scheme. This budget will provide full year funding for 58 staff posts, 55 full 
time equivalents. 

 

Pack Page 10



  

 
 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 9 of 14 
 

7.2 I use clinical advisers with expertise in various areas of the health professions to 
assist me with the consideration of health cases.  The office has some reliance on 
advisers engaged through an arrangement with the Office of the Parliamentary and 
Health Service Ombudsman (OPHSO), which is subject to a recharge to my office. 
The PHSO has advised that they may no longer be able to provide this service and 
as a consequence there are likely to be increased costs to my office to obtain 
alternative advice.  This is not currently accounted for in this estimate submission. 

 
7.3 The IT contract will be re-tendered during 2016/17 and there is a need to continue to 

invest in IT to increase efficiencies. The total cost of £191k includes additional 
funding to progress procurement. 

 
7.4 Finally, I would draw the Committee’s attention to the fact that my budget estimate 

does not include any contingency provision for meeting unexpected items of 
expenditure, such as legal challenges to my casework decisions. 

 
8. Strategic Planning and to the Future 
 
8.1 Last year, under the theme of ‘Innovation, Influence and Improvement’, I produced a 

new three year strategic plan, an illustrated summary of which can be found on the 
following page. 

 
8.2 As already demonstrated in this paper, office casework continues on an upward 

trend and a key focus will remain the office’s core complaints service function. We 
will continue to look to innovate to support our aim of ensuring that we provide a 
service that is of the highest quality, proportionate and effective. We are also 
committed to ensuring that the knowledge and insight obtained from the complaints 
we consider improve complaint handling by public service providers and have an 
impact in improving public service delivery. 

 
8.3 The Strategic Plan also addresses the prospect of a new PSOW Act. A key 

unknown at the time of presenting this submission to the Finance Committee is the 
Assembly’s intention in relation to taking forward the Draft Public Services 
Ombudsman Bill produced towards the end of the Fourth Assembly.   For the time 
being, I have not made any provision within these estimates for any additional 
powers that may be conferred upon the PSOW.   However, I draw the Committee’s 
attention to the fact that I may need to submit a Supplementary Estimate should it 
become clear that a new Act will come to fruition prior to, or during, the financial 
year in question.   

Pack Page 11



 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 10 of 14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.4 Needless to say, my staff and I remain committed to being accountable for the 

service we provide and the public money we spend. 
 
 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales       
September 2016 
 
 
 

**************************  

Pack Page 12



  

 
 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 11 of 14 
 

Appendix A 
Estimates 2017/18 

 

 
Actual 
2015/16 

Budget 
2016/17 

Estimate 
2017/18 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Capital DEL 144 25 25 
Fiscal Revenue DEL    
Salaries and related costs 2,498 2,788 2,934 
LGPS related costs 266 279 292 
 2,764 3,067 3,226 
Premises 646 407 416 
Computer systems and support 151 149 191 
Office costs 161 130 130 
Advisory and legal fees 250 310 294 
Communications 73 82 78 
Training and recruitment 68 40 30 
Travel and subsistence 34 29 31 
Audit fee 20 20 20 
Sub total 4,167 4,234 4,416 
Income 0 0 -1 
Total Fiscal Revenue DEL 4,167 4,234 4,415 
 
Non cash DEL    
Depreciation 83 80 80 
 
Revenue DEL (B+C) 4,250 4,314 4,495 
Total DEL  (A+B+C) 4,394 4,339 4,520 
 
Annually Managed Expenditure (AME)    
Movement on LGPS -266 -279 -292 
Provisions movement 11 30 20 
Total AME -255 -249 -272 
Total  Managed Expenditure    
A+B+C+D 4,139 4,090 4,248 
    
Resources Required 4,139 4,090 4,248 
Depreciation -88 -80 -80 
Change in Provisions -11 -30 -20 
Utilisation of Provisions 266 279 292 
Other movements in Working Capital -93 20 20 
Net Cash Requirement 4,218 4,279 4,460 

 
 
 
  

Pack Page 13



 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimates Submission 2017/18                                  Page 12 of 14 
 

Appendix B 
Growth in complaints 

 
Within the overall complaints caseload about public service providers, complaints about 
NHS bodies have increased year on year, and by 135% since 2010/11 as follows: 

 
In context of all complaints 
about public services, health 
makes up 36% of the caseload 
as seen in the chart opposite.  
The growth in health complaints 
has had particular impact on the 
work of my office, since 
complaints about health bodies 
are invariably the most resource 
intensive to consider and 
investigate.   
 
 
 
 
 
In considering the future implications for my office, and taking data from the beginning of 
this decade, including the first quarter of 2016/17, the trend lines on the graph overleaf 
project what the office caseload volume could look like at end March 2018. 

4%
1%

7%

4%

5%

36%13%

10%

4%

9%

1%
6%

Benefits and Taxation

Community Facilities, 
Recreation and Leisure
Complaint Handling

Education

Environment and 
Environmental Health
Health

Housing

Planning and Building 
Control
Roads and Transport

Social Services 

Independent Care

Various Other

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Number of complaints 340 527 682 759 769 798

Complaints about NHS Bodies in Wales

Pack Page 14



 

 

Enquiries and Complaints Received per month since 2010/11 to end August 2016 and projected end March 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

A
pr

il 
'1

0
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il 
'1

1
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il 
'1

2
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il 
'1

3
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il 
'1

4
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il 
'1

5
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il 
'1

6
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

A
pr

il 
'1

7
M

ay
Ju

ne Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ar
ch

N
um

be
r o

f E
nq

ui
rie

s/
C

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
R

ec
ei

ve
d

Enquiries

Public Body Complaints

Code of Conduct Complaints

P
ack P

age 15



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae 
Pencoed 
CF35   5LJ 
 
Tel:      01656 641150 
Fax:    01656 641199 
E-mail:    ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk 
Follow us on Twitter: @OmbudsmanWales 

Pack Page 16

mailto:ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk�


Document is Restricted

Pack Page 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



National Assembly for Wales
Assembly Commission

September 2016

National Assembly for Wales
Draft Budget 2017-18

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-07-16 P2

Pack Page 26

Agenda Item 5



Assembly Commission strategy
2016–2021

July 2016

Pack Page 27



 

Contents 

 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 1 

 Budget approach 2017-21 ............................................................................................ 2 

 Commission strategic priorities ................................................................................ 7 

 Budget pressures ........................................................................................................... 8 

 Supporting Assembly Business .............................................................................. 11 

 Assembly Resources .................................................................................................. 14 

 Efficiency and Effectiveness ................................................................................... 20 

 The Remuneration Board’s Determination ......................................................... 22 

 Budget Ambit ................................................................................................................ 23 

 

 

Pack Page 28



The Official Opening of the Fifth Assembly  - 7 June 2016
Invited guests gathered in the Neuadd as Her Majesty The Queen leaves the Senedd.  

Pack Page 29



1 

Introduction 

The Assembly Commission budget is used to meet the running costs of the National Assembly for Wales 

and the cost of the Assembly Members salaries and allowances.  This budget is the first to reflect our 

strategy and priorities as the new Commissioners of the Fifth Assembly. Clearly, the Commission’s strategy 

and budget are closely related.  We need to ensure that there is sufficient funding to deliver the ambitions 

of the new Commission, whilst being mindful of the wider economic context and ensuring that we are 

providing value for money in the delivery of our services. 

The Commission’s strategy during the Fourth Assembly was to make the most of the small size of the 

institution, better understand the needs of Members and provide more tailored support services.  The 

Assembly received full law-making powers and Members’ workloads increased in volume and complexity, 

putting additional pressure on Members’ time and capacity.  As we look forward to the issues which will 

face the Fifth Assembly, two of the primary influences will be the new tax raising powers and extended 

legislative competence devolved by the Wales Bill currently before Parliament.  The capacity pressures of 

a 60 Member Assembly have been well rehearsed and we are very aware of the consequential need for the 

Commission to provide efficient and effective support to Members in carrying out their roles. 

The Remuneration Board and the Commission both have a role in deciding the services and financial 

support available to Members to undertake their roles effectively. Members’ needs are central to both and 

the Commission will be working closely with the Remuneration Board to ensure that appropriate 

resources of all sorts are available to Members. 

Commission staff comprise the biggest element of support provided to Assembly Members. Such 

resources include committee clerking teams, researchers, staff supporting the legislative processes, 

parliamentary translation and reporting staff, legal advisers, visitor services and outreach staff and those in 

operational support services such as security, accommodation, HR, finance and ICT, plus the cost of all 

goods, services and facilities used in the day to day operation of the Assembly.   

Complementing this support, the Remuneration Board provides resources for Members’ pay and 

remuneration, for Members and political parties to employ their own personal staff, to run constituency 

and regional offices and to undertake some research and engagement activities. The travel and 

accommodation costs that Members incur in order to fulfil their elected roles are also reimbursed by the 

Board. 

Looking forward, the Commission believes a step change is needed in how we produce, manage and use 

Assembly business information in order for the Assembly to be regarded as a world class digital parliament 

that is open, inclusive and easy to engage with, leading to better laws and scrutiny. The Commission will 

be working to improve the way people engage with the Assembly and how services are delivered to 

Members. Many of these changes will mean we do things differently, rather than in a more costly way, but 

the process of transforming the basis on which we deliver so many of our services will involve some 

financial investment. 

In summary, the budget strategy for the next five years needs to be sufficient to enable the Commission 

to deliver its new strategic goals. At the same time, it must meet the challenge of increased 

responsibilities within the capacity constraints that are a feature of being the UK’s smallest legislature. A 

budget strategy that modestly increases the Commission’s overall resourcing levels will be needed if the 

Commission is to maintain the delivery of excellent services to Assembly Members. In turn, that will enable 

Members to fulfil their responsibilities to undertake effective scrutiny of the Welsh Government, to make 

good laws for Wales and to represent the people of Wales. 

  

Pack Page 30



2 

Budget approach 2017-21  

At the beginning of the Fourth Assembly, the previous Commission set a multi-year budget to ensure 

that the aspirations of Wales for its Assembly were met. This was combined with strong governance 

arrangements, so as to match the delivery of its five year aims with available funding and maintain a 

strong focus on securing value for public money. This multi-year strategy was supported by the 

Finance Committee from the outset and was adhered to by the Commission each year. In order to 

provide the same levels of transparency and effective planning, we are adopting the same approach 

for the Fifth Assembly. 

This document sets out the intended expenditure plans for 2017-18 as well as our indicative plans 

and financial requirements through to the end of the Fifth Assembly.  These could be subject to 

change as we respond to the challenges that emerge over the next four years but, based on our 

current assessments, we consider them to be set at levels that are fair and prudent. 

The budget in total, provides for the: 

 expenditure under the Commission’s direct control; 

 budget for costs associated with the Remuneration Board’s Determination for Members’ Pay and 

Allowances; 

 accounting provision for the Members’ Pension Scheme under the HM Treasury’s Annually 

Managed Expenditure (AME) heading. 

The budget has been prepared on a basis of an inflationary increase plus a further 1% for 2017-18 and 

2018-19, then 0.8% below inflation in 2019-20 and 2020-21 (i.e. in line with projected changes in the 

Welsh Block). The budget has been prepared on the assumption that the Assembly will continue with 

60 Members.  If, during the course of the Assembly, it becomes clear that the Commission needs to 

plan for an increase in the size of the Assembly, then new budget provisions would need to be made. 

  

Pack Page 31



3 

A high level summary for the next four years is shown in Table 1 below, together with the 2016-17 

budget for comparison: 

Table 1 2016-17 

£000 

2017-18 

£000 

2018-19 

£000 

2019-20 

£000 

2020-21 

£000 

Operating Budget      

Staff Resource £20,391 £21,349 £22,467 £22,795 £23,071 

Non-staff costs £13,079 £13,064 £13,020 £13,077 £13,226 

Subtotal £33,470 £34,413 £35,487 £35,872 £36,297 

      

Remuneration Board’s Determination £15,468 £15,532 £15,816 £16,102 £16,394 

      

Ring-fenced and non-cash budgets      

Depreciation £3,000 £2,600 £2,400 £2,200 £2,200 

Annually Managed Expenditure £1,500 £1,200 £1,200 £1,200 £1,200 

Election Related Expenditure £2,500 £0 £0 £0 £500 

Subtotal £7,000 £3,800 £3,600 £3,400 £3,900 

      

Total Budget £55,938 £53,745 £54,903 £55,374 £56,591 

 

A large part of the Commission’s operational budget covers staffing costs.  Over the Fourth Assembly, 

our staffing developed in order to provide outstanding parliamentary support to Members.  Capacity 

was increased in order to meet the demands on the business and we have brought in additional skills 

where required to meet emerging needs. 

A lot of work has already been done to map out the likely staffing needs for the Fifth Assembly and 

now that the new Committee structure is in place, the staff structures and capacity are being 

reviewed.   

The budget for 2017-18 provides for 446 posts.  Staffing levels are reviewed through an annual 

capacity planning exercise which links to service plans, identifying staffing needs and ensuring there 

is sufficient time to bring in required skills.  The assumption in our budget planning is that modest 

growth in staffing numbers will continue during the Fifth Assembly as an increasing workload for 

Members will require additional skills and expertise. 

The key areas in which we expect to see the increases to capacity are: 

 Assembly Business Directorate e.g. Committee, Communications, digital media and Legislative 

support; 

 Translation and Reporting as we further support more bilingual working. 

 Security – in response to a heightened international threat. 

  

Pack Page 32



4 

Looking after our money 

In order to manage the resources at our disposal, the Commission needs timely, accurate and 

relevant financial information that is prepared with the Commission’s statutory obligations and 

commitment to openness and transparency in mind. 

Our financial management and performance reflects the Commission’s continuous improvement 

ethos. We have made further improvements in financial reporting and forecasting to provide the 

flexibility to make best use of our available budget.  

We have further strengthened financial management, reporting and control, increasing the Finance 

Team’s capacity, skills and resilience, reducing the time taken to provide management information, 

and improving reconciliation processes. 

The Commission has a highly effective programme of internal audit that is applied across the 

organisation and supplements the statutory audit requirements.   The work undertaken between the 

Finance Team and the Wales Audit Office during 2015-16 to address areas of potential weakness led 

to a very successful audit of the year end accounts.  This relationship will continue to be valuable in 

order to highlight any areas for improvement in the accounts process and continue to demonstrate 

value for money. 

In addition there is an independent Audit and Risk Assurance Committee made up of highly 

experienced individuals with both public and private sector experience.  The committee takes an 

active interest in the management of the Commission and is enthusiastic about its work on 

effectiveness and efficiency.  Engagement with them provides continual challenge and assurance 

around our improvement work. 

The internal audit process will continue during the Fifth Assembly and give the opportunity to review 

our current service provision and provide recommendations for improvement where necessary.   

The Commission reports against Key Performance Indicators each term.  During the Fourth Assembly 

these indicators helped to focus attention and drive service improvements.  The Key Performance 

Indicators are being updated for the Fifth Assembly to reflect the priorities of the new Commission.   

Pack Page 33



The Official Opening of the Fifth Assembly  - 7 June 2016
Members of the Armed Forces line the street outside the Senedd.   

Pack Page 34



Setting direction

One of our first tasks as a new Commission was to 
agree our new strategy. Our overarching purpose 
and strategic goals are set out below.
 
Our purpose
The National Assembly for Wales is the 
democratically elected body that represents the 
interests of Wales and its people, makes laws for 
Wales, agrees Welsh taxes and holds the Welsh 
Government to account. 

The Assembly Commission serves the National 
Assembly to help facilitate its long-term success 
as a strong, accessible, inclusive and forward 
looking democratic institution and legislature that 
delivers effectively for the people of Wales.
 
Our strategic goals

–– To provide outstanding parliamentary support. 

–– To engage with all the people of Wales and 
champion the Assembly. 

–– To use resources wisely.

Pack Page 35



7 

Commission strategic priorities 

The strategic goals set the framework for an ambitious set of priorities, building on the investment 

and momentum that has been achieved in the Fourth Assembly, particularly in the light of the 

changing constitutional situation and the continued need for stronger engagement. For each 

strategic goal, the Commission’s aim is to set and maintain high standards as a Welsh public service 

leader, during a time of closer public scrutiny, and enhance our international reputation as an 

effective, open, world class parliamentary institution. 

A key theme running throughout these priorities is a focus on building capability to ensure the longer 

term success of the organisation. This applies to:  

 the Assembly and Commission: through having the right constitutional and procedural framework 

in place;  

 Members: through shaping our services and professional development offer to their needs;  

 staff: ensuring that our people are well equipped, drawn from the widest pool of talent, are aligned 

with our business priorities, and that we have the flexibility to respond to changing needs; 

 an agile culture: continuously seeking opportunities for all to create value by working differently, 

making best use of advancing technological capabilities, and embracing change; and 

 enhancing the engagement value offered by the Assembly estate, in particular the Senedd.  

The start of the Fifth Assembly has seen a change to Committee structures, the way their Chairs are 

elected and a lengthening of the formal Assembly business week to provide more time for committee 

and plenary scrutiny work.  We need to flex our staffing support to meet this changed demand and to 

address the emerging needs of the institution. 

Investing additional resources in supporting change and building our capability will pay dividends in 

the longer term. Particular areas where we see a need for future investment include: 

 making a step change in the digital provision of Commission services to Members and the public, 

including improving services such as Senedd TV; 

 strengthening the youth engagement strategy to invest in the future of Welsh democracy;  

 creating a coherent, publicly accessible archive for the long-term preservation of the Assembly’s 

records; 

 the 10 year Estates investment programme and Energy Reduction Route Map;  

 the possible purchase of Ty Hywel should the opportunity arise, if it were demonstrated that this  

would save us a significant amount of money in the longer term. 

  

Pack Page 36



8 

Budget pressures  

The challenges of the Fifth Assembly are likely to become even more complex and require the 

Commission to be at its very best in supporting Members to carry out their work.  Looking to the 

future, the Commission’s budget strategy takes account of the changing constitutional context, 

including the outcome of the EU referendum. There will be other drivers and external influences 

which will shape the Commission’s services. The key ones anticipated are summarised here.  

Constitutional change 

The Assembly will be under the spotlight as new tax raising powers are used (including, potentially 

income tax powers). Other new powers will be devolved via the Wales Bill. Ensuring that Members and 

Commission support services are ready to exercise these new powers is an area where further small-

scale investment may be required, for example, to deal with any additional work or bring in specialist 

expertise.   

The decision on whether and how to increase the size of the Assembly in 2021 will be a matter for the 

Assembly to consider if the Wales Bill is agreed. This would have a significant impact on the 

Commission’s investment priorities and would require considerable forward planning and re-thinking 

of Commission services to deliver support to a larger Assembly.  

Implications of the outcome of the EU Referendum to Wales and the work of the Assembly. 

The Assembly has a role in promoting Welsh interests amongst the EU institutions. It also has a role in 

indirectly influencing the position of the UK Government and in scrutinising the Welsh Government’s 

strategic priorities in relation to the EU.  

There is likely to be an impact, following the referendum outcome, in terms of workload for Members 

and Committees in the short and longer term.  Some areas of work may reduce, or take on a lower 

level of priority, such as work to support Assembly activity in relation to the Committee of Regions 

and CALRE (Conference of European Regional Legislative Assemblies). However, alongside this it is 

likely that there will be much greater emphasis on inter-parliamentary work within the UK and key 

areas of policy where EU laws are applied within devolved areas, and therefore likely to fall to the 

Assembly, rather than Westminster.  

There will also be a need to engage more on constitutional issues with both the UK Government and 

Welsh Government directly to ensure that the Assembly’ interests are represented.  Given the 

importance of the devolved parliaments being involved and having oversight of inter-governmental 

relations on this issue, it is likely that whatever processes/structures are put in place for inter-

governmental negotiations, similar arrangements will be required for legislatures.   

The core strengths of the committee system include cross-party working, policy expertise and 

engagement with the electorate. All of these issues have been raised in the political debates and 

media coverage following the referendum. The potential for committees to combine the three, in 

innovative ways as well as building on the best practice from the Fourth Assembly and to respond to 

the challenges arising from the vote is significant.    

 

 

 

Pack Page 37



9 

Capacity – supporting Members to respond to business demands 

Pressures on Members and Commission services are likely to increase during the Fifth Assembly. The 

Welsh Government’s legislative programme and the new powers as devolved in the Wales Act 2014 

and anticipated in the Wales Bill are likely to increase Members’ workload. The public policy 

challenges facing Wales will also require ever closer scrutiny, exacerbated by the current economic 

climate.  

Faced with the continuing pressures of a 60-Member Assembly, the Commission will consider how 

best to focus its support to Members.  

Changing digital world, public engagement and demands for greater transparency 

How people engage with the political environment is changing, including demands for greater 

transparency and accessibility of information about Members and their work. This creates a driver for 

improvements to services such as senedd.tv and to create a coherent archive of the Assembly’s 

records, so that we safeguard and control those records for the public good. 

There is an opportunity to build on the excellent outreach and youth engagement foundations of the 

Fourth Assembly. The Commission will consider the arguments for a formal Youth Assembly to 

complement its increased youth engagement work. 

Media coverage in Wales of Assembly business is likely to continue to be weak. Continuing to support 

the media to facilitate coverage of the work of the Assembly in the Welsh national and local media will 

be crucial. There may also be an opportunity to improve the Assembly’s relationship with the UK 

media to increase their understanding and appetite for Assembly news and help them make 

connections between UK wide issues and the Welsh perspective. 

A step change is required in how we produce, manage and use Assembly business information if the 

Commission wishes the Assembly to be regarded as a world class digital parliament that is open, 

inclusive and easy to engage with, leading to better laws and scrutiny outcomes. 

Name change of the Assembly 

The Wales Bill which is currently progressing through UK Parliament, will give the Assembly the power 

to change its own name, once it receives Royal Assent. The Assembly has made clear its view that its 

name should be changed to better reflect its responsibilities and role today in the constitution of 

Wales.  The Commission will be considering the implications of such a change and how best to give it 

effect.   

Pack Page 38



COMMITTEE
REPORTS

INDIVIDUAL
MEMBER
DEBATES

URGENT
QUESTIONS

COMMITTEE
MEETINGS

PLENARY
MEETINGS

BILLS RECEIVED
ROYAL ASSENT

286

66 20

82

8

During 2015–16, Assembly Members represented their constituents and scrutinised 
government policy, legislation and expenditure in weekly Plenary and

committee meetings.  

ASSEMBLY BUSINESS 2015 – 2016

Pack Page 39



11 

Supporting Assembly Business 

The Assembly has established a system of committees with two more policy and legislation 

committees than existed in the Fourth Assembly.  It has also agreed a timetable of formal business 

that will allow more committee activity to take place. 

The Commission will need to invest to ensure that every committee: 

 has access to the policy expertise it requires, both internal and external; 

 can pursue innovative and inclusive ways of engaging with the people of Wales; 

 raises the profile of their work; 

 has its administrative needs, including translation, interpretation and reporting fully met. 

The Commission intends to continue to pursue the flexible approach to resourcing legislative scrutiny 

established during the Fourth Assembly.  This will involve regularly assessing resource needs and 

responding when appropriate to peaks in the Assembly’s legislative workloads.  We will provide a full 

suite of support for the development of any Member, committee or Commission Bills. We will also 

provide support to scrutinise any such Bills, as well as scrutinising legislation introduced by the Welsh 

Government. 

The Commission will carefully examine, in collaboration with the Welsh Government, the potential for 

any resource need arising from the report of the Law Commission on the form and accessibility of the 

law applicable in Wales.  The Commission is also working with the Welsh Government to make 

preparations for the end of the current contract period for the legislation software used by both 

organisations to draft and process amendments to Bills. 

The staffing structure supporting committees is being reviewed in light of the new programme for 

Committee business but will need to be monitored as the Fifth Assembly progresses to respond to 

the workloads of the individual committees.  To further support their work, Members and their staff 

make excellent use of the Research Service to answer their confidential requests for information in 

support of Assembly Business and constituency work.  We have recognised the growing demand from 

Members for information to be presented in more visual, accessible formats using mapping software 

and infographics.   

The constitutional challenges presented by the Wales Bill and the decision that the UK should leave 

the European Union will present particular demands for legal and procedural advice and support to 

the Llywydd, Commission, committees and Members.  We anticipate a need for targeted and specific 

investment in these areas of expertise, though the full extent of the work involved is yet to become 

clear. 

Professional Development for Members 

The start of the Fifth Assembly was the first time that we have been able to provide a comprehensive 

induction programme for new Members which gave them an introduction to the Assembly and the 

necessary tools to get started in their roles immediately.  Members are now being individually 

supported by providing training specifically related to the roles that they will be undertaking.  We will 

continue to develop and deliver innovative, needs-based support. Delivery of the Continuous 

Professional Development (CPD) programme for Assembly Members and their support staff will build 

on the experience gained in the last Assembly as well as incorporating new opportunities based on 

Pack Page 40



12 

feedback from current Members. It will focus on providing timely advice and tailored support that 

meets the priorities of the institution and the needs of individuals 

The CPD programme will include a mixture of learning opportunities including training sessions, 

online and written materials, briefing and coaching reflecting the range of Member and AMSS 

responsibilities. Individual Members will be supported in their responsibilities in running offices and 

managing staff alongside the more formal business of the Assembly. New areas of activity will include 

increasing knowledge and understanding of the implications of the decision to leave the EU and 

preparing for constitutional changes that will come into force in this Assembly. 

Committees and their Chairs will continue to have access to a comprehensive programme of support 

that can be tailored to suit their needs and fit in with their priorities. This flexible programme of 

support will include coaching for Chairs, evidence gathering and questioning skills, and the scrutiny of 

legislation. 

One of the areas where we anticipate the greatest increase in demand is language support.  We offer 

various ways of delivering Welsh language lessons and have already arranged for Members to access 

learning specific to their needs. 

CPD packages will be available for individual AMSS, to suit their different roles and the way Members 

choose to structure their offices. The existing CPD offer for AMSS will be maintained, with an 

additional focus on supporting caseworkers and staff in constituency offices that deal directly with 

the public. The types of training offered to Support Staff will include: media training, language 

learning, casework, dealing with constituents, speech writing and the legislative process and 

amending legislation. 

Bilingual Working 

Work on an Official Languages Scheme for the Fifth Assembly is underway.  As part of the process, the 

Assembly Commission is required to consult on a draft of the Scheme and to lay the final Scheme 

before the Assembly for approval.  The amended scheme will focus on further improvement of 

bilingual service provision and the ability to provide a bespoke and responsive service.   

An increase in the number of Welsh speaking Assembly Members and in the number of Assembly 

Members learning Welsh, including the election of Welsh speaking office holders is likely to further 

increase the use of Welsh at both formal and informal working levels. 

A Language Skills Team has been established to provide flexible and bespoke teaching and support 

for learners and Welsh speakers. The team will work on a bilingualism toolkit which will assist 

Commission staff to use the skills they have to work at a level that is appropriate for them. This will 

include the use of technology such as machine translation and online resources which will in the long 

run raise the confidence levels of Assembly Members, their support staff, and Commission staff to 

work in the language of their choice, and reduce dependence on translation to facilitate bilingual 

working. 

A new translation call-off contract will be put in place by the beginning of 2017; the contract will 

enable facilitate a flexible response to any requirements for both text translation and interpretation, 

incorporating the use of technology to provide value for money. 

Pack Page 41



13 

The Record of Proceedings 

From the start of the Fifth Assembly, the Draft Record appears online an hour after the start of 

Plenary. This is a new service, building upon the previous one, which was solely an internal 

publication. Its publication is announced on Twitter. 

As part of our new provision for Members for the Fifth Assembly, transcripts of committee meetings 

are being e-mailed directly to committee members as soon as they are complete, to facilitate scrutiny 

at the earliest possible opportunity. 

We are seeking a new transcription and publication solution that is integrated with other Assembly 

Business processes to make the production process more efficient, to enable more resources to be 

focused on publishing more quickly. The aim is to publish all transcripts in a format that will be easily 

searchable by Member, location, issue, etc., to support our parliamentary democracy and vision for 

the Record which is that: 

“Our bilingual Parliamentary official report is fit for communication in an 

evolving digital work, is reusable, available earlier and accessible.  

Reporting on proceedings is an integral part of our communications 

strategy to make Assembly proceedings more transparent so that the 

people of Wales understand what is being debated and decided by the 

Assembly.” 

Engaging with the people of Wales 

There are many ways in which the Commission engages with the people of Wales.  The Senedd and 

Pierhead are significant attractions in their own right and we hold numerous events on the estate 

which provide opportunities for families to learn more about the Assembly.  Increasingly, the Senedd 

is used as a venue for major events of national significance and we exploit the opportunities such as 

the 10 year anniversary of the opening of the building to showcase the institution. The Assembly is 

represented at all of the major national shows and through our “Senedd@” programme, we take the 

work of the Assembly directly to parts of Wales other than Cardiff. 

The emphasis we place on engagement and outreach as an integral part of committee work is path-

breaking in the parliamentary world.  We are striving continually to find new and better ways of 

engaging the public directly in the work of committees, shaping their programme of work, the 

generation of the evidence they receive and the communication of their work and conclusions.  

Continuing these developments will be critical not only to the effectiveness of the committee system 

but also to enhancing levels of political engagement in Wales. 

Visitor numbers are increasing each year as are the number of events being held on the Estate.  In 

order to ensure that events are delivered in the best possible way, a review of how events are 

delivered was commissioned and commenced in March 2016.  The aim of the review is to ensure 

efficient and consistent customer services across all events and to avoid duplication of work when 

organising such events. This will ensure value for money and achieve greater levels of engagement 

from the events that are held across the estate.  The findings of the review will be delivered in early 

2017. 

  

Pack Page 42



14 

Assembly Resources 

ICT Services 

Over the Fourth Assembly, a great deal of resource was targeted at bringing the Commission ICT 

Service in-house.  The success of this change has been reflected in Members’ survey results and the 

ICT service now provides best value for the Commission’s budget. 

A great deal of work was been done during the Fourth Assembly to upgrade and update ICT 

infrastructure and support so that there is now a flexible foundation to build on which enables us to 

take advantage of opportunities in technology for the benefit of Members.  

The equipment in the Siambr was upgraded in time for the Fifth Assembly.  The improved 

configuration provides more desk space to Members, more flexibility in the use of mobile ICT, better 

information display and the flexibility to allow further incremental improvements in future. 

The priorities for the Fifth Assembly are to ensure that the ICT infrastructure becomes even more 

resistant to failure and offers greater flexibility through the use of “Cloud” services. This will help 

Members to access the resources they need regardless of location or choice of device. We will 

continue to take advantage of new technology where this can be shown to provide increased 

efficiency and make the organisation more effective. For example, we intend to upgrade signage and 

broadcast systems across the estate in order to exploit the benefits of modern broadcast 

technologies.  

The budget for ICT makes provision for 42 staff to support Broadcasting, the ICT Infrastructure and 

Operations, Applications Management, Service Delivery and ICT Projects.  Steps have been taken to 

ensure we have the right skills for the Fifth Assembly; for example, an Apple Engineer has recently 

been recruited to enhance the support provided to Members who choose to utilise Apple products.   

Overall, the budget for the service has been reduced by 12% compared to the peak cost of the 

contracted out service freeing up resource to invest in the development of this and other services.   

Graph 1 shows the reduction in the operational budget since we brought the service in-house from a 

peak cost of £3.618million in 2013-14 to £1.747million in 2016-17.   

  

Pack Page 43



15 

Graph 1: ICT Operational Budget 

 

Table 2: ICT Costs 

 2016-17 

Budget 

£000 

2017-18 

Budget 

£000 

2018-19 

Budget 

£000 

2019-20 

Budget 

£000 

2020-21 

Budget 

£000 

Contracted out services (including Telephony) £528 £588 £563 £563 £563 

Broadcasting £490 £505 £496 £490 £490 

License and Maintenance £774 £681 £681 £681 £681 

Revenue and Consumable purchases £130 £250 £250 £250 £250 

 

  

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Out-sourced Transition

Period

In-house

Pack Page 44



16 

Managing and Protecting the Estate 

The Assembly estate provides a valuable asset to support the Commission’s goals to effectively 

engage and champion the work of the Assembly. 

Following the investments and enhancements to the estate during the Fourth Assembly, we will 

continue to use our rolling, prioritised work programme to implement lifecycle replacements and 

refurbishments.  This will ensure the estate operates effectively to support Assembly business and 

reflects the status and professionalism of the Assembly to all those who work in and visit our 

buildings.  We will also seek opportunities to ensure lifecycle replacements deliver added value and 

savings, for example through more efficient and sustainable replacements and innovations.  We will 

work collaboratively with other services to identify areas where we can achieve joint outcomes, 

through reviewing systems and identifying solutions that provide added benefits, for example more 

sustainable lighting replacements that can also support our engagement goals through increased 

functionality. 

Effective sustainability initiatives and projects to support our Carbon Reduction Route Map to 2021 

will also be reviewed and prioritised to support our continued drive to minimise our utilisation of 

energy, waste and water and ensure we remain an exemplar within the public sector. 

Through planned contract retender opportunities, we will seek to review specifications and services 

to identify efficiencies and savings, whilst ensuring we continue to achieve excellent performance 

standards and delivery of services from our contracted partners.  Working within procurement 

regulations, we will encourage opportunities within and as part of our contracts to support our 

commitments to working with Welsh and SME suppliers. 

In support of the emerging requirements of the Fifth Assembly, we will review our available facilities 

both in terms of business needs for Committee meetings and options for more flexible use of office 

and meeting spaces. 

We will explore options to achieve savings through securing our long term ownership goals for Ty 

Hywel.   

Graph 2: Estates and Facilities Management; Operational Budget 2017-18 

 

  

Rates £1.311m

Rent £2.835m

Utilities £0.644m

Contracts £0.487m

Maintenance £1.396m

Other £0.230m

£6.903 million 

Pack Page 45



17 

The Fifth Assembly will continue to face a number of security challenges. It is therefore important to 

ensure that security remains flexible and focussed to ensure a prompt and appropriate response to 

emerging risks triggered by global events. While international terrorism remains a threat to our safety, 

we cannot ignore the risks that exist from others who may wish to undermine democracy, or engage 

in other forms of criminal activity. 

The Security team works closely with the Police and other agencies reviewing intelligence and 

putting in control measures to mitigate emerging risks. In response to the threats of international 

terrorism, the Commission agreed to the deployment of armed officers, which will eventually lead to 

an increase in police numbers. In light of this a comprehensive review of the Service Level Agreement 

with the Police is being undertaken to ensure that the Commission is getting best value for money.   

The Commission has invested heavily in protective security measures and new equipment has been 

introduced, or is being planned, that will greatly enhance the security of the Assembly. These 

measures are underpinned by more professional and well trained security officers who provide a 

greater reassurance in the business environment.  Steps are being taken to further develop our 

security services to further enhance the safety of Members, staff and visitors on our estate. The 

security team is also working with Members to review security arrangements at constituency offices. 

A full review of the security staffing structure is being undertaken in response to a longer business 

week, the requirement to host more Committees and an increasing number of events. This review is 

also seeking to guarantee training and development opportunities away from front line duties. This 

review is expected to report with recommendations in autumn 2016. 

  

Pack Page 46



18 

Investing in our people 

We have a continuing commitment to build organisational capability, against a backdrop of changing 

demands, to ensure the Assembly has skilled, motivated people in the right posts, ready to deliver 

outstanding parliamentary services. 

Our most recent staff survey, benchmarked against civil service comparators, continues to 

demonstrate an extremely positive picture, with continued high levels of employee engagement, a 

true commitment to delivering high quality services, and clear indicators that it is a great place to 

work. This is also illustrated through a large number of external awards and accolades, including a new 

IIP Gold award, being placed third in the UK in Stonewall’s Workplace Equality Index and also 

recognised as the top Welsh Public Sector Employer for LGBT staff for the third year running.  In 

partnership with our Trade Union colleagues, we will work to ensure continued high levels of staff 

engagement and commitment.   

Our capacity planning during the latter part of the Fourth Assembly identified areas for investment, 

particularly the expanding programme of legislation, and readiness for the impact of the Wales Bill. We 

will continue to develop this work with a particular focus on efficiency and effectiveness.  

There are three main directorates within the Commission:  

 The Assembly Business directorate with 134 posts covering Committee, Research, 

Communications and Strategic Transformation, providing specialist parliamentary support to 

Members to ensure the efficient and effective conduct of business.   

 Commission Services with 77 posts providing secretariat services and support to the Llywydd, the 

Chief Executive, Directors, Assembly Commission and Remuneration Committee.  Members 

Business Support (MBS) and the Translation and Reporting Service are also within this directorate.  

 The Resources Directorate provides the corporate support to the business environment, including 

Security, Estates and Facilities Management, ICT, Human Resources, Governance and Audit and 

Front of House.  This directorate has provision for 205 posts within the budget. 

 The Legal Service team has 15 posts and the Finance team has 15 posts. 

Pack Page 47



WORKING FOR THE ASSEMBLY

AWARDS

Race, Ethnicity And Cultural Heritage Network 
of the National Assembly for Wales

Working Parent and Carer Network of the 
National Assembly for Wales

Rhwydwaith Gofalwyr a Rhieni sy’n 
Gweithio Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru

Rhwydwaith Hil, Ethnigrwydd a Threftadaeth 
Ddiwylliannol Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru

LGBT Network of the National Assembly for Wales

Rhwydwaith LGBT Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru

OUT-NAW
Disability Network of the National Assembly for Wales

Rhwydwaith Anabledd Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 

Women’s Network of the National Assembly for Wales

Rhwydwaith Menywod Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru

WORKPLACE EQUALITY NETWORKS

Pack Page 48



20 

Efficiency and Effectiveness 

As a publicly funded organisation, the Commission must consistently demonstrate that it uses its 

resources efficiently and effectively and that it operates effective governance and assurance 

processes.  At the same time, , it is critical that we maintain the delivery of excellent services to 

Assembly Members so that they are able to undertake their elected role to provide effective scrutiny 

of the Welsh Government, to make good laws for Wales and to represent the people of Wales. 

In order to provide assurance that we treat the efficient and effective use of resources as a priority in 

both our daily operations and also when we introduce changes to the organisation. We: 

 challenge ourselves and our suppliers continuously to increase efficiency and effectiveness and to 

measure and report on improvement; 

 provide clear evidence that we do operate efficiently and effectively and that we are right to use our 

allocated budget in the way we do; 

 ensure that everything we do aligns to the Commission’s Strategy, goals and priorities, is fit for 

purpose and is the result of an assessment of costs versus benefits; 

 subject ourselves to both internal and external scrutiny and to be clear and open about our plans 

and achievements; and 

 capture examples of good practice, distil the essence of what makes it so and ensure that this good 

practice is adopted. Similarly, where things do not go well, we show what we have learnt and done, 

to prevent a reoccurrence.  

  

  

Pack Page 49



72% 7.6%

0.13%
450

12%

STAFF ENGAGEMENT LEVEL MEASURED 

IN ANNUAL STAFF SURVEY
(AGAINST CIVIL SERVICE MEDIAN OF 59%)

REDUCTION IN EMISSIONS
(6% ANNUAL TARGET)

BUDGET UNDERSPEND
(TARGET OF <1%)

PERMANENT, POLITICALLY 
IMPARTIAL STAFF WORK FOR 
THE ASSEMBLY COMMISSION

USING RESOURCES WISELY 2015 – 2016

REDUCTION IN COST OF ICT SERVICES

163,158
VISITORS TO THE 
SENEDD AND 
PIERHEAD

Pack Page 50



22 

The Remuneration Board’s Determination 

The Remuneration Board is the independent body which determines the pay and remuneration for 

Assembly Members and their staff and the system of financial support needed for Members to fulfil 

their responsibilities as elected representatives. 

The system provides funds to cover the expenses associated with being a Member and / or an Office 

Holder, for example: 

 running an office and engaging with constituents; 

 salaries and travel expenses of their support staff; 

 residential accommodation in Cardiff for Members whose home is a significant distance away 

(eligibility criteria apply); 

 support for the Party Groups and policy research. 

At the start of this Assembly, the basic salary for Assembly Members was set at £64,000.  In future 

years it will be uprated in line with average earnings in Wales as measures in the Annual Survey of 

Hours and Earnings (ASHE). 

Additional salaries are paid to Members holding offices carrying significant extra responsibilities, such 

as Minister, the Llywydd and committee chairs.  

Also, from the start of this Assembly, the Board made significant changes to the Members’ pension 

scheme, increasing the level of contribution made by the Members themselves and reducing the 

benefits paid to pension recipients, thus reducing the overall cost to the taxpayer. 

The Remuneration Board has put in place funding (up to £95,000 per Member per annum) for 

Members to employ up to three full-time equivalent staff to support them in all aspects of their role.  

In addition, Members can draw on an allowance of up to £17,184 in order to cover the costs of 

running an office in their constituency or region.  

Members’ salaries and the mechanism for any uplift is now set for the remainder of this five year 

Assembly.  The Board will review the other elements of its Determination on an annual or periodic 

basis to ensure that they remain appropriate.  The Office Costs budget is reviewed annually and 

adjusted as necessary.  For the purpose of providing indicative figures, we have applied an inflationary 

uplift only.   

The budget to fund the Remuneration Board’s Determination for the Fifth Assembly is shown in Table 

3 

Table 3 2016-17 

£000 

2017-18 

£000 

2018-19 

£000 

2019-20 

£000 

2020-21 

£000 

Assembly Members’ Salary and on-

costs 

£5,840 £5,725 £5,811 £5,899 £5,986 

Assembly Members’ Support Staff 

Salary and on-costs 

£7,956 £8,110 £8,273 £8,438 £8,607 

Allowances and Office Costs £1,672 £1,697 £1,732 £1,765 £1,801 

Total £15,468 £15,532 £15,816 £16,102 £16,394 

Pack Page 51



23 

Budget Ambit 

This budget submission is laid in compliance with the National Assembly Standing Order 20.13 to 

assist in the compilation of the Annual Budget Motion required by Section 125 of the Government of 

Wales Act 2006.  The submission covers the resource and cash requirements of the Assembly 

Commission for the year ending 31 March 2018. 

The Budget Motion will authorise the net resources to be used for the services and purposes of 

Members and Assembly Services.  The motion includes the maximum income (or accruing resources) 

that may be retained for use on those services and purposes instead of being paid into the Welsh 

Consolidated Fund and the cash amount that will need to be issued from the Welsh Consolidated 

Fund to meet the anticipated net amounts falling due for payment by the Commission. 

The 2017-18 Budget for the Assembly Commission addressing these requirements is set out in Table 

4; 

Table 4 2017-18 

£000 

Resources other than accruing resources for use by the National Assembly for 

Wales Commission on resource and capital costs associated with the 

administration and operation of Assembly Services to support the National 

Assembly for Wales (‘the Assembly’); promotion of the Assembly including 

payments to the Electoral Commission and others; payments in respect of the 

Commissioner for Standards and Remuneration Board; any other payments 

relating to functions of the Assembly or functions of the National Assembly 

for Wales Commission. 

Resources other than accruing resources for use by the National Assembly for 

Wales Commission in respect of decisions of the Remuneration Board and 

expenditure in respect of Assembly 

Members’ Pension provision. 

 

 

 

£53,745 

 

 

 

 

Accruing resources for retention pursuant to section 120(2) of the 

Government of Wales Act 2006 and use by the National Assembly for Wales 

Commission; 

- from the disposal of fixed assets and other capital income for use on 

the purchase or acquisition of fixed assets 

rental income, gifts, grants, cheques, recharges and income from commercial 

sales and other services provided to the public or others for use on 

administrative costs of the Assembly 

£300 

Amount to be issued from the Welsh Consolidated Fund to meet the anticipated 

amounts falling due for payment in the year in respect of the above services and 

purposes less expected retainable receipts and recoverable VAT 

£50,245 

 

  

Pack Page 52



24 

Annex 1: Budget Overview 

Table 5 

 

Budget Heading 

2016-17 

Budget 

£000 

2017-18 

Budget 

£000 

2018-19 

Budget 

£000 

2019-20 

Budget 

£000 

2020-21 

Budget 

£000 

Staff salaries and related costs £20,392 £21,458 £22,571 £22,894 £23,170 

Accommodation and facilities £7,514 £7,586 £7,612 £7,639 £7,666 

ICT costs £2,614 £2,024 £1,990 £1,984 £1,984 

Other costs (see Table 6) £2,132 £2,150 £2,119 £2,160 £2,282 

Training and development £385 £400 £400 £400 £400 

Promoting awareness and understanding  £324 £314 £314 £314 £314 

Staff travel and subsistence £156 £158 £158 £158 £158 

Other HR costs £103 £123 £123 £123 £123 

Total Revenue Expenditure  £33,620 £34,213 £35,287 £35,672 £36,097 

      

Revenue Income      

Sales – the Assembly Shop (£15) (£15) (£15) (£15) (£15) 

Accommodation – rental income (£50) (£50) (£50) (£50) (£50) 

Miscellaneous income (£335) (£235) (£235) (£235) (£235) 

Total Income (£400) (£300) (£300) (£300) (£300) 

      

Capital Expenditure – creation of fixed 

assets 

£250 £500 £500 £500 £500 

      

Total Resource £33,470 £34,413 £35,487 £35,872 £36,297 

      

Members’ salaries and related costs £15,468 £15,532 £15,816 £16,102 £16,394 

      

Net Resource £48,938 £49,945 £51,303 £51,974 £52,691 

      

Non-cash and ring-fenced budgets      

Election related expenditure £2,500 £0 £0 £0 £500 

Depreciation and amortisation charges £3,000 £2,600 £2,400 £2,200 £2,200 

Members’ Pension finance costs £1,500 £1,200 £1,200 £1,200 £1,200 

Total non-cash and ring-fenced 

budgets 

£7,000 £3,800 £3,600 £3,400 £3,900 

      

Total Commission Budget £55,938 £53,745 £54,903 £55,374 £56,591 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 53



25 

Analysis of ‘Other Costs’ 

Table 6 2016-17 

Budget  

£000 

2017-18 

Budget  

£000 

2018-19 

Budget  

£000 

2019-20 

Budget  

£000 

2020-21 

Budget  

£000 

Other administrative expenses £1,218 £1,155 £1,124 £1,165 £1,287 

Language contracted-out services £263 £263 £263 £263 £263 

Printing, stationery and postage £227 £270 £270 £270 £270 

Insurance and specialist advice £110 £115 £115 £115 £115 

Publications £110 £120 £120 £120 £120 

Accounting and financial services £23 £44 £44 £44 £44 

Audit £90 £90 £90 £90 £90 

Committee advisors £54 £54 £54 £54 £54 

Hospitality £37 £39 £39 £39 £39 

 

Table 7 reconciles the net resource requirement to the cash drawing requirement from the 

Welsh Consolidated Fund; 

Table 7 2017-18 

£000 

Members net revenue requirement £15,532 

Commission net revenue requirement £36,513 

Net capital requirement £500 

Annually Managed Expenditure £1,200 

Subtotal £53,745 

  

Adjustments;  

Depreciation (£2,600) 

Movements in provisions (£1,200) 

Movements in debtors and creditors £300 

Subtotal  

  

Net cash requirement from the Welsh Consolidated Fund £50,245 

 

  

Pack Page 54



26 

Annex 2: Glossary  

Annually Managed Expenditure (AME)  

A categorisation of expenditure reserved for less predictable and controllable items. Can only be 

allocated to the purpose for which it is assigned.  

Budget  

Sets out the resource and cash amounts proposed for use in the following financial year and 

indicative figures for the subsequent financial years.  

Capital  

Expenditure that generally results in a fixed asset (e.g. a building, equipment or land) intended to 

benefit future accounting periods, or spend that increases the capacity, economy, efficiency or 

lifespan of an existing fixed asset.  

Depreciation  

A measure of the consumption, wearing out or otherwise reduction in the useful life of a fixed asset.  

Fixed Assets  

Items that are purchased with an expected life greater than one year for the economic benefit of the 

business such as land, buildings and equipment.  

Government of Wales Act 2006  

The Act of the Parliament of the United Kingdom that reforms the National Assembly for Wales and 

allows further powers to be granted to it more easily. The Act creates a system of government with a 

separate executive drawn from and accountable to the legislature.   

Provisions  

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. A cost is recognised in the Commission’s 

Resource Account when we have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, when it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle this 

obligation, and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Real terms  

The value of expenditure adjusted to take account of general price inflation. Enables comparisons of 

spending across years without the distortion caused by price changes.  

Revenue/ Running Costs  

Current expenditure covering day-to day running costs such as staff salaries and the purchase of 

consumable goods and services.  

Value for Money  

The process under which organisation’s procurement, projects and processes are systematically 

evaluated and assessed to provide confidence about suitability, effectiveness, prudence, quality, 

value and avoidance of error and other waste, judged for the public sector as a whole.  

Pack Page 55



27 

Welsh block  

Is the block grant of money, calculated using the Barnett Formula, voted by Parliament to the 

Secretary of State for Wales for funding that comes to Wales.  

Welsh Consolidated Fund  

Created by the Government of Wales Act 2006, this is a neutral bank account held by the Paymaster 

General. The account into which the money voted by the UK Parliament for use by the Welsh 

Government, the Assembly Commission, the Auditor General and the Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales is paid. 

 

Pack Page 56



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 57

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	3.1 Letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government to the Chair - 23 September 2016 - Welsh Revenue Authority
	4 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Estimate of income and expenses 2017-18: Evidence session
	//
	Contents           Page
	Appendices
	1. Introduction
	2.  The Role of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
	3.  Corporate Governance
	4. Financial Performance
	5. Efficiency and Effectiveness
	6. Pensions Deficit
	7. Pressures
	8. Strategic Planning and to the Future
	Research Brief

	5 Assembly Commission draft budget 2017-18: Evidence session
	Research Brief




